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In the past three years alone, the U.S. Department 
of Justice (“DOJ”) and the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) have brought several significant actions 
alleging violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act 
(“FCPA”) against companies and individuals relating to 
conduct in Argentina and Brazil. These actions reinforce 
the need for companies doing business in Argentina 
and Brazil to be aware of the risks posed by the U.S 
Government’s enforcement of the FCPA and to take steps 
to avoid violations.  

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
While other countries have enacted anti-corruption 

laws, with the U.K.’s Antibribery Act being perhaps most 
notable example, no country has been as aggressive in its 
investigation and prosecution of corruption as the United 
States. In 2010, for example, the DOJ and SEC brought a 
record number of FCPA cases and collected a record $1.8 
billion in financial penalties. Further, it is clear that the 
U.S. Government is focused on foreign concerns as well as 
U.S. companies. Of the ten largest penalties that the U.S. 
Government has imposed in FCPA cases, nine of them relate 
to companies outside of the U.S.

The FCPA makes it illegal for U.S. issuers, citizens, 
residents, and businesses (and their employees and agents) 
to bribe foreign officials in order to obtain or retain business.1 
The definition of a U.S. issuer is a broad one, and includes 
foreign companies trading on U.S. exchanges, such as 
through American depository receipts (“ADRs”), and those 
who have to file periodic reports with the SEC. The statute 
defines the term “foreign official” to mean “any officer 
or employee of a foreign government or any department, 
agency, or instrumentality thereof, or of a public international 
organization, or any person acting in an official capacity for 
or on behalf of [such an entity].”2 Although the FCPA does 
not define the term “instrumentality,” the DOJ and the SEC 
have taken an expansive view of the term and interpreted it 
to include state-owned entities.

In addition to anti-bribery provisions, the FCPA also has 
accounting provisions that require U.S. issuers to make and 
keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect the 
issuer’s transactions and to maintain a system of adequate 
internal accounting controls.3

Recent FCPA Cases Involving Argentina and Brazil
The DOJ and SEC have brought the following cases in 

the past three years.

Biomet
On March 26, 2012 as part of a larger investigation into 

the medical device industry, the SEC and DOJ brought FCPA 
charges against U.S.-based Biomet, Inc., alleging that its 
subsidiaries and agents bribed public doctors in Argentina, 
Brazil, and China to win business. The U.S. Government 
alleged that employees of Biomet’s Argentina subsidiary 
paid kickbacks as high as 15 – 20% of each sale to publicly-
employed doctors in Argentina. Alleged phony invoices 
were used to justify the payments and the bribes were falsely 
recorded as consulting fee commissions in the company’s 
books and records. The U.S. Government also alleged that 
a Biomet subsidiary used a distributor to bribe doctors in 
Brazil, paying them 10-20% of the value of the sales. 



November 2012 LATIN AMERICAN LAW & BUSINESS REPORT 2

ArgeNtiNA/BrAzil

To resolve the matters, Biomet agreed to pay $5.6 million 
in disgorgement and interest and a $17.3 million fine. It also 
agreed to retain an independent compliance consultant for 18 
months to review its FCPA compliance program. According 
the U.S. Government, Biomet received a reduction in its 
penalty as a result of its cooperation with the Government, 
its self-investigation, and its remedial efforts.

in the SEC’s investigation and agreed to pay a penalty of 
$300,000 to settle the matter.

Panalpina
On November 4, 2010, the DOJ and SEC charged 

Panalpina, Inc., a global freight forwarding company based 
in Switzerland, with violating the FCPA by paying millions 
of dollars in bribes to foreign officials, including Brazilian 
customs agents, in order to receive preferential treatment 
and improper benefits during the customs process. The 
action was the result of a proactive industry-wide sweep of 
the oil services industry and the DOJ and SEC charged six 
other companies in that industry on the same day it brought 
charges against Panalpina. To settle the charges against 
it, Panalpina agreed to pay disgorgement of $11,329,369 
and with its parent entity, agreed to pay a criminal fine of 
$70.56 million.

Nature’s Sunshine Products
On July 31, 2009, the SEC brought a settled FCPA 

action against U.S.-based Nature’s Sunshine Products, 
Inc. (“NSP”), its Chief Executive Officer, and its former 
Chief Financial Officer. The SEC alleged that in order to 
address changes in Brazilian regulations that resulted 
in the reclassification of products as medicines, NSP’s 
Brazilian subsidiary bribed Brazilian customs officials 
to import product into Brazil and then purchased false 
documentation to conceal the nature of the payments. To 
settle the action, NSP agreed to pay a $600,000 penalty. 
This matter is noteworthy because the CEO and CFO were 
not alleged to have been aware of the payments, but were 
nonetheless charged as “control persons” for their failure 
to ensure that NSP made and kept accurate books and 
records and that NSP maintained an adequate system of 
internal controls. 

Helmeric & Payne
On July 30, 2009, the DOJ and SEC charged Helmeric 

& Payne, Inc. (“H&P”), a U.S. company that provides oil 
drilling equipment and personnel on a contract basis, 
with FCPA violations. The U.S. Government alleged 
that among other things, from 2004 through 2008, H&P, 
through its Argentine subsidiary, paid Argentine customs 
officials approximately $166,000 to permit the importation 
and exportation of equipment and materials without 
required certifications, to expedite the importation of 
equipment and minerals, and to allow the importation 
of materials that could not be imported under Argentine 
law. H&P was also alleged to have paid, through its 
Venzuelan subsidiary, approximately $19,673 in bribes to 
Venezuelan customs officials. In early 2008, H&P learned 
of the payments while conducting FCPA training of its 
key employees and in October 2008, after conducting an 
internal investigation, voluntarily reported the conduct 
to the U.S. Government. To settle the claims, H&P paid 
disgorgement and interest of $375,681 and a $1 million 
penalty. 

the	U.S.	government	interest	in	Brazil	
and	Argentina	and	other	countries	in	

latin	America	is	not	surprising.	Nor	is	
this	interest	expected	to	wane	given	

the	reported	perceptions	of	corruption	
in those countries as reflected by such 
metrics as Transparency International’s 
Corruption	Perceptions	index	(“CPi”).

Siemens
On December 13, 2011, the SEC and DOJ charged 

several former executives at Siemens with violating the 
FCPA for their involvement in a bribery scheme to retain a 
$1 billion government contract to produce national identify 
cards for Argentine citizens. Although Siemens is not a U.S.-
based company, its shares trade on U.S. stock exchanges 
through ADRs, making it a U.S. issuer for the purposes of 
the FCPA. The company had already been charged for this 
conduct in December 2008 and it agreed to pay $1.6 billion 
to the U.S. and German governments to settle the matter. 
According to the U.S. Government, as part of the scheme, 
Siemens had paid more than $100 million in bribes to high 
ranking officials. To hide their conduct, the executives 
allegedly falsified documents including invoices and sham 
consulting contracts.

Ball Corporation
On March 24, 2011, the SEC brought an administrative 

action for FCPA violations against Ball Corporation, a U.S. 
company that manufactures metal packaging for beverages, 
foods, and household products. The SEC alleged that 
from July 2006 through October 2007, Ball, through its 
Argentine subsidiary Formametal, S.A., offered and paid 
at least ten bribes totaling at least $106,749, to Argentine 
customs officials to secure the importation of prohibited 
used machinery and the exportation of raw materials at 
reduced tariffs. Although certain accounting personnel at 
Ball learned soon after Ball’s acquisition of Formametal in 
March 2006 that the subsidiary may have made questionable 
payments before the acquisition, Ball did not take actions 
sufficient to ensure there would be no additional bribes 
after the acquisition. Ball received credit for its cooperation 
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In additional to the foregoing actions, Embraer 
S.A., based in Brazil and the world’s third largest 
commercial aircraft manufacturer, disclosed on June 
11, 2012, that it had received an SEC subpoena relating 
to possible FCPA violations. On August 2, 2012, Teva 
Pharmaceuticals disclosed an SEC investigation into 
possible FCPA violations arising from its operations in 
Latin America. Similarly, Avon Products has confirmed 
an SEC investigation into possible FCPA violations. 
According to the Wall Street Journal, an internal 
investigation by the company has revealed millions of 
dollars of payments to government officials in Brazil, 
Argentina, and other countries. 

Future FCPA cases relating to Brazil and Argentina are 
likely to come from many of the same sources that spawned 
the cases brought by the DOJ and SEC over the past three 
years. For example, the Ball and Helmeric & Payne matters 
arose as a result of voluntary disclosures, a source of cases 
upon which the DOJ and SEC has historically relied for 
the bulk of its FCPA cases. The Biomet and Panalpina 
matters, by contrast, were the products of pro-active 
industry-wide investigations prompted by concerns of 
corruption in those industries. With the creation of the 
SEC’s specialized unit focused solely on FCPA matters, 
and the influence of risk-based approaches that the SEC 
has been implementing throughout the agency, one can 
expect the U.S. Government to be as pro-active as its 
limited resources will allow in attempting to find potential 
FCPA violations. 

In addition, in the coming years, the U.S. Government 
is also hoping to see a number of good leads from 
the SEC’s much-publicized whistleblower program. 
Pursuant to this program, an individual who voluntarily 
provides the SEC with original information that leads to 
a successful enforcement action with sanctions of over 
$1 million is eligible for an award of 10 – 30%. The SEC 
has already indicated that many of the tips it is receiving 
relate to FCPA violations.

Special Considerations for Brazil and Argentina
The U.S. Government interest in Brazil and Argentina 

and other countries in Latin America is not surprising. 
Nor is this interest expected to wane given the reported 
perceptions of corruption in those countries as reflected by 
such metrics as Transparency International’s Corruption 
Perceptions Index (“CPI”), which ranks 183 countries 
(from the perception of least to most corrupt) on the basis 
of expert assessments and opinion surveys. Each country 
is ranked according to a CPI score and a confidence range, 
reflecting perceptions of the degree of corruption as seen 
by business people and country analysts. In general, 
a country is viewed as having an endemic corruption 
problem if it has a score of 3.0 or below. The 2011 ranking 
for Brazil is 73rd (out of 183) with a score of 3.8 out of 
10, while Argentina is ranked somewhat lower at 100th, 
with a score of 3.0  Each ranking underscores the need 
for ongoing vigilance with respect to operations in these 

countries, particularly where local intermediaries, agents, 
or other third-party business partners are involved. 
Indeed, according to the DOJ’s “layman’s guide to the 
FCPA,” a history of corruption in a country or industry 
may be a “red flag,” requiring a heightened level of 
scrutiny of agents and/or operations within that country 
or industry. As such, the U.S. enforcement agencies may 
consider U.S. companies operating in Brazil and Argentina 
to be on notice of a threshold corruption risk requiring 
additional diligence solely based on the jurisdictional 
risk. In other words, when working in these markets, 
it is particularly important to assess your exposure to 
corruption.

these	hurdles	to	foreign	operation	have	
created	an	environment	that	tends	to	

promote the use of third-party agents to 
facilitate	business	for	foreign	companies	
within Brazil. These third parties, by their 

nature, are more difficult for a foreign 
corporation to monitor. These third-party 

relationships	often	pose	the	greatest	
point	of	exposure.

The DOJ “layman’s guide to the FCPA” devotes an 
entire section to the risks associated with the use of third 
party business partners and intermediaries, risks that can 
hardly be avoided for many foreign companies operating 
in Brazil, given its local content requirements. Indeed, 
Brazilian companies are largely formed as limitadas, 
entities similar to limited liability corporations in the 
United States. Owners, or “quotaholders,” of a limitada, 
must be either Brazilian residents or represented by 
Brazilian residents who hold power of attorney to 
represent those quota-holders in Brazil. Further, managers 
appointed in a limitada must themselves be Brazilian 
residents or hold permanent Brazilian visas and be 
supported by a significant local capital investment.

These hurdles to foreign operation have created an 
environment that tends to promote the use of third-party 
agents to facilitate business for foreign companies within 
Brazil. These third parties, by their nature, are more 
difficult for a foreign corporation to monitor or control, 
and because a U.S. company can be vicariously liable for 
the corrupt acts of its foreign agents, these third-party 
relationships often pose the greatest point of exposure or 
compliance risk. Indeed, misconduct by local third parties 
on behalf of their foreign principals is frequently at the 
heart of DOJ and SEC enforcement actions, and there 
have been allegations regarding third-party misconduct 
in the vast majority of enforcement actions over the past 



November 2012 LATIN AMERICAN LAW & BUSINESS REPORT 4

ArgeNtiNA/BrAzil

several years. Accordingly, a company working with local 
representatives in Brazil and Argentina should consider 
the potential risks of vicarious liability that may arise from 
these relationships and develop a compliance program 
that includes a commercially reasonable due diligence 
program and other measures for monitoring, mitigating, 
and managing the known risks.

While local content laws are not uncommon in 
emerging markets, Brazil’s highly federalized government 
may also fuel the general perception of greater corruption 
risk in this country. For example, the Brazilian government 
places a great deal of authority in its 27 “state-level” and 
over 5,000 municipal governments, each with its own 
independent laws, regulations, and oversight. Each of 
these lower-level government bodies operates with a high 
degree of autonomy from national oversight, and each 
potentially presents an additional point of contact with 
government, which generally increases corruption risk, 
particularly where a foreign corporation desires to operate 
in several geographic regions and must rely upon local 
representatives to navigate these various government 
contacts and local regimes. 

Brazil and Argentina present tremendous opportuni-
ties for economic development and business growth. From 
oil and gas and other natural resources, to the expansion 
of manufacturing and trade, to a growing need for infra-
structure to support a host of developing industries, the 
opportunity for expansion in Brazil and Argentina is very 
attractive. This opportunity, however, also comes with 
certain pitfalls for the unwary that are not uncommon in 
emerging markets but can be navigated successfully with 
careful planning and preparation. 

Preparing for U.S. Scrutiny
To make sure that a company is prepared for the 

increased scrutiny given by U.S. and other regulators, 
companies conducting business in Latin America 
(including Brazil and Argentina), whether directly or 
through subsidiaries, need to make sure that they have 

put in place a robust compliance system for preventing 
FCPA and other anticorruption violations. At a minimum, 
such a system would include:

• a comprehensive set of policies and procedures 
specifically tailored to the company and the corruption 
risks to which it is exposed;

• a program designed to ensure that all relevant 
employees receive appropriate training in 
anticorruption laws and how to avoid violating 
them;

• a system of audit and accounting controls designed 
to reflect accurately the company’s books and records 
and to prevent bribes;

• a process for conducting and documenting due 
diligence of third party agents, and consultants, and 
representatives; and

• an internal hotline, promoted in such a manner as to 
encourage employees to come to the company with 
any concerns about violations of anti-corruption 
laws.

In addition, a company needs to be aware of the 
FCPA risks to which it is exposed when it acquires 
another accompany and needs to tailor its pre- and post-
acquisition due diligence accordingly in order to assess 
those risks. o

1.  Foreign individuals and foreign companies that do not trade 
on U.S. exchanges can also violate the FCPA if they cause an act 
in furtherance of a corrupt payment within the United States. 
15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1(g).
2.  15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-2(h)(2)(A).
3.  15 U.S.C. § 78m(b).
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